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RFP No. 1-14-C020 
Employee Engagement and Inclusion Survey Program  

for the 
Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority 

 
Questions and Answers 
 
Notice: Questions may have been edited for clarity and relevance. 
 
1. Will you be providing any type of incentive to the participants for completing the surveys?    

 
Answer: No. 

 
2. The Solicitation Offer and Award page requests that 6 copies of the technical proposal be 

submitted, but Attachment 02, Evaluation Criteria, Page 2 requests that 4 copies of the technical 
proposal be submitted.  Please clarify. 
 
Answer:  Please submit six (6) copies of the technical proposal.  See Amendment One (001) to the 
solicitation that clarifies this requirement. 
 

3. On what date, would the Authority request best and final offers and on what date, would they be 
due?  
 
Answer:  The Authority is not contemplating a best and final offer at this time.  The Authority 
reserves the right to request Best and Final Offers (BAFO) if it is in the best interest of the Authority 
but they are not routinely issued.      

 
4. Reference Section V-Provision 12 B6.  What type of documentation does MWAA require that would 

show reasonable and customary pricing based on industry standards?  
 
Answer:  This provision is only applicable to commodities which have industry standards such as 
steel or other metals and does not apply to employee surveys.     
 

5. Reference Section VI, Provision 01- How is use of contract by other jurisdictions provision 
applicable?  
 
Answer:  This provision has no impact on how proposals will be evaluated.  The provision simply 
provides the successful offeror with an opportunity to extend the contract to selected jurisdictions 
within the Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments. 
 

6. Reference Section VII:  What are the licenses or permits that are needed, if any, for this work? 
 
Answer:  There are no license or permit requirements for this effort.  
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7. Reference minority, woman owned or local businesses:  Is there any advantage offered to level the 
playing field to allow local small businesses to compete more equitably with larger or national firms 
for this work? 
 
Answer:  This solicitation has been classified as full and open and does not have a Local 
Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (LDBE) requirement.  Award will be made to the lowest priced 
technically acceptable proposal.      
 

8. Reference Statement of Work, Page 1:  Is this the first time MWAA will be conducting this survey?  
If no, will MWAA provide prior year survey and data for benchmarking?  Will results need to be 
compared to prior years as part of the analysis?  Who is the incumbent and have they registered to 
respond?  And, if so, is there any reason to switch to using a different provider for this work? 
 
Answer:  An employee survey was conducted as part of an overall organization assessment in 
2009.   The data from that survey will not be available for use in this effort. No results are available 
for comparison.  There is no incumbent for an employee survey program. 
 

9. Reference Statement of Work, Page 1:  Please clarify what you mean by benchmark to industry 
organizations.  Does MWAA have applicable data? 
 
Answer:  MWAA does not have data.  Expectation is that vendor will have data related to survey 
responses that can MWAA data can be compared to.    
 

10. Statement of Work, Page 1:  Given that conducting once a year surveys would control for 
seasonality, allow for more accurate year-to-year comparisons and would control for other external 
factors across employees, what is the value in breaking collection into four times a year?  How 
would distribute at random work? 
 
Answer:  Management wants to be able to respond to areas of employee concerns identified 
through the survey and keep the employee interests up and show that it is not going to be a 
onetime event.  Random distribution will be determined in coordination with the vendor. 
 

11. Statement of Work, Page 1:  How are you defining Employer of Choice? 
 
Answer:  This is a branding concept that is still being defined. 
 

12. Statement of Work, Page 2:  Please clarify your needs, expectations and how you define 
dashboard, scorecards and other tools.    
 
Answer:  We are in the process of establishing Corporate goals and metrics for use in a Pay for 
Performance program.  Our expectation is that we will incorporate actions taken by management in 
response to the employee survey results in the Pay for Performance program.   
 

13. Statement of Work, Page 2:  What are your requirements for a continuous improvement process?  
How does it vary from recommendations?    
 
Answer: Continuous improvement is an element of the Pay for Performance Program that is being 
developed.  
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14. What are the analysis and reporting requirements?  Will results need to be analyzed by airport, by 
demographics, e.g., gender, age, ethnicity, type of position, tenure, etc., or in any other manner? 
 
Answer: Yes. 
 

15. Are all the employees literate in English?  
 
Answer: Yes. 
 

16. Are all the employees computer literate? 
 
Answer: Yes. 
 

17. What is the minimum and maximum number of questions to be included in the survey?  How many 
open-ended questions, if any, are expected to be included?  What are the analysis expectations, if 
any, for open-ended questions?   
 
Answer: The maximum number of questions is twenty five (25).  At least one open ended question 
is to be included.  Analysis will depend on the open ended question(s).  
 

18. Controlling for multiple completed surveys is difficult with an anonymous collection process that 
has both paper copies and online.  Would MWAA consider a proposal that suggests either paper or 
online, and not both, for this reason?  If no, what controls are required to ensure that employees 
are not taking the survey multiple times or completing paper copies and online? 
 
Answer:  We will need to have both on line and paper surveys.  Vendor will be required to have 
controls in place related to data collection.  
 

19. What is the minimal acceptable response rate?  What are the expectations for the response rate? 
 
Answer:  We will work with the vendor to ensure the highest response rate possible.   
 

20. How many departments or other organizational units are there within the organization that will be 
included in the survey?  Will you want breakdowns for each group?   
 
Answer:  Final breakdown of data will be determined after award.  
 

21. Will the random samples (each quarter) be across all those organizations or within specific units?  
If across specific units how many?  
 
Answer:  Across all organizations. 
 

22. Does MWAA have an established pay-for-performance system?  If so, is that expected to remain as 
is or are changes anticipated, either in conjunction with the survey or in parallel with it?  
 
Answer:  The Pay for Performance program is under development.  
 

23. What is the expected length of the survey period(s)?    
 
Answer:  We anticipate that there will be sufficient time allowed for employees to complete survey.  
We will work out timeline with the successful contractor. 
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24. Are the quarterly surveys expected to be the same instrument simply administered to different 

groups at different times, or a different instrument each time?    
 
Answer:  The same instrument will be administered to different groups. 
 

25. Is there a cap on the number of desired survey questions?    
 
Answer:  See Question #17.  
 

26. Is there a cap on the amount of time MWAA desires employees to spend filling out a survey form?   
 
Answer:  No more than 30 minutes. 
 

27. Is union involvement anticipated in the development of the survey instrument and any subsequent 
communications to employees?   
 
Answer:  Unions will be briefed on the survey before it is administered.  We may ask unions for 
input on communicating results to employees.  
 

28. What percentage of the survey population will be expected to receive paper surveys?   
 
Answer:   Approximately 30%.   
 

29. Are there particular locations or subgroups that must receive paper surveys?   
 
Answer:  Some Trades employees at Reagan National and Washington Dulles International Airport 
and some Police Officers at both airports. 
 

30. Is there a required response rate per quarterly survey? (SOW, deliverable 2, page 2) 
 
Answer:  No.  
 

31. Are there hard-to-reach subpopulations (e.g., workers in high traffic locations, English as a second 
language speaker) that require higher response rates to ensure a representative sample of the 
subpopulation?   
 
Answer:  No. 
 

32. Will the quarterly samples be conducted independently of each other?  That is, each person will 
have the opportunity to be in only one quarterly sample?   
 
Answer:  Yes. 
 

33. Will the MWAA website be available as a means of communication for employees about the 
surveys?    
 
Answer:  Yes, we are open to using the most effective communication tools we have available.  We 
also have an intranet that would also be suitable for this type of communication.  
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34. Will the contractor be provided with a complete list of MWAA employee email addresses each 
quarter or only at the beginning of the project?   
 
Answer:  The contractor will be provided a complete list of MWAA employee email addresses as 
needed.     
 

35. What fraction of the work must be completed on site at MWAA?  Web surveys can be fielded offsite, 
both paper and online surveys can be analyzed offsite and reports can be generated offsite. (SOW, 
deliverables 2,  3 & 4, page 2, Item 13 Place of Performance, section V-5 ) 
 
Answer:  We have not established how much work needs to be completed on site.  That will be 
determined following contract award. 
 

36. Approximately how many executive-level meetings are anticipated per quarter?   
 
Answer:  At least one per quarter. 
 

37. Is the “up to $50,000 annually” on the website a guideline or a firm cap on the amount MWAA is 
willing to pay per year?  
 
Answer:  The website information represents the Estimated Dollar Value of the services as 
described in the Statement of Work and is not a firm cap.  This is a firm fixed priced contract. 
 

38. MWAA Price Schedule:  Please confirm if the abbreviation LS means Lump Sum. 
 
Answer:  Yes, that is correct. 
 

39. Reference Section V, Item 13, Place of Performance and Section VII, Item 9, Authority furnished 
Facilities and Item 10, Authority Furnished Equipment: Section VII, Items 9 and 10 indicate that no 
Authority facilities or equipment will be made available under the contract.  However Section V, 
Item 13 requests the offeror to indicate which Authority it will perform the proposed effort at.  
Please clarify the Authorities intent regarding work location.  
 
Answer:  Work may be performed at both Reagan National Airport and Dulles Airport.  Timing and 
duration will depend on the final work plan approved for distribution and collection of paper 
surveys.    
 

40. Reference Section VII, Item 2, Pre-Performance Conference:  Please confirm if this Conference will 
occur after a contract award is made. 
 
Answer:  No decision has been made regarding details of a pre-performance conference.   
 

41. Section VII, Item 24, Indemnification:  Will MWAA consider the use of mutual indemnification 
language in this solicitation? 
 
Answer:  The terms and conditions of the solicitation are not negotiable in any material way. 
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42. Section VII, Item 42, Payments:  Please confirm that for the purposes of billing and payment that it 
is the intention of MWAA and the successful offeror to establish a mutually agreed set of milestone 
dates and or deliverables for billing purposes. 
 
Answer:  Yes. 
 

43. Are there specific industry benchmarks MWAA wants to be measured against?   
 
Answer:  No.   
 

44. Can the proposal be hand delivered? 
 
Answer:  Yes.  
 

45. Is there an incumbent?  If yes, what was the annual cost of the services?   
 
Answer:  No.   
 

46. Are the insurance requirements different for this type of consulting contract from the standards on 
the RFP document?  It seems that on the RFP it has your standard on-site service provider 
insurance coverage limits, e.g. janitorial, construction.  
 
Answer:  The successful offeror will be required to carry the liability insurance policy coverage 
described in the RFP.  
 

47. Reference Section IV, Reps & Certs:  Will participation in Virginia's SWAM program qualify as 
certification of minority/disadvantaged business status? 
 
Answer:  No, since this solicitation is full and open and does not have a Local Disadvantaged 
Business Enterprise (LDBE) requirement.  The Authority does not participate in Virginia’s SWAM 
program.  Please visit the MWAA website for additional information about the Authority’s Equal 
Opportunity programs. 
 

48. Reference Section IV, Reps & Certs:  Does use of a third party software application to manage data 
collection constitute participation by a "subcontractor" 
 
Answer:  Yes, activities performed by other parties is considered a subcontract.   
 

49. How many employees are "in the field" and would require remote access to participate in an online 
survey?  How many would require a paper survey? 
 
Answer:  See response to Question 28, 29. 

50. Are there any corporate best practices that the program seeks to emulate?  Can you identify the 
corporations and programs? 
 
Answer:  No. 
 

51. Are there specific KPIs that are driving this initiative?  
 
Answer:  No. 
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52. Are there any accessibility requirements associated with his RFP?  
 
Answer:  Not to our knowledge. 
 

53. What internal communications assets are available for communications to the employee base?  Are 
there external assets?  
 
Answer:  A variety of assets are available including: Internet, Intranet, e-mail, and electronic 
newsletter.  Not sure what would constitute and external asset. 
 

54. Is the "consulting assistance" open-ended or might that generate a contract modification? 
 
Answer:   We do not foresee a contract modification for consulting services.    
 

55. In the RFP, it states that 1 original and 6 copies of the proposal are required. On page 2 of the 
Evaluation Criteria, it states that the 1 original copy be separated out into three envelopes with 1 
copy of the Representation package into Envelope 1, 1 copy of the Price Proposal into Envelope 2, 
and then 4 copies of the Technical Proposal in envelope 3. This adds up to 1 full copy of the 
proposal plus 3 more copies of the Technical proposal. As this does not equal the 6 copies stated 
on the cover page of the RFP, can you please clarify as to the number of copies required? 
 
Answer:  See Question #2. 
 

56. Has this survey been conducted previously?  If so, when?  Who is the incumbent? What was the 
previous contract amount? 
 
Answer: See Question #8.  
 

57. To what degree are you interested in the contractor creating a brand new survey that is tailored 
specifically to your organization? The advantage would be the survey would be designed 
specifically for you. You would also own the survey and the data at the end of the project. The 
downside is that you probably would not have normative data to compare to other organizations? 
 
Answer:  Our expectation is that the survey will be developed based on an existing question bank.  
We do not anticipate a brand new survey. 
 

58. Please comment on deliverable number 2 (page 2 of the SOW) asking the contractor to provide 
validated instruments.  How must the instruments be developed (or evaluated) to meet the 
judgment of the MWAA that they are valid? 
 
Answer:  Our expectation is that the vendor has conducted surveys before and has a set of 
questions that will elicit responses from employees that can lead management to areas of concern 
and to take corrective action, if needed.  
 

59. Has an employee engagement survey been conducted previously?  If so, who was the contractor 
for this effort? 
 
Answer:  See #8. 
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60. What is the impetus for this project? 
 
Answer:  Development of a Pay for Performance program.  
 

61. What is the estimated budget for this effort? 
 
Answer:  The estimated dollar value is up to $50,000.00 annually. 
 

62. Will the 25% of employees who are surveyed each quarter be identified by the Airports Authority, 
randomly selected, or will the contractor develop a sampling plan to select survey recipients? 
 
Answer:  Randomly selected. 
 

63. The RFP states that The Airports Authority is seeking a contractor to benchmark against industry 
organizations?  What types of organizations are of interest to benchmark (e.g., airports, 
transportation organizations)? 
 
Answer:  Airports, utilities, local governments, large facility maintenance organizations.     
 

64. A customized employee engagement survey is quite valuable for assessing the specific needs of 
an organization and providing actionable results.  However, when using a customized survey, 
existing benchmark data does not provide a viable benchmarking comparison since some aspects 
of the measures may differ. In light of this, would the Airports Authority like us incorporate the task 
of "gathering benchmarking data from other industry partners" in our technical approach and 
budget for the project? 
 
Answer:  No, vendor should have benchmarking database.  
 

65. The RFP requests access to online survey data for additional analyses.  Does the Airports 
Authority wish to conduct these analyses on their own, or have the contractor create additional 
reports? 
 
Answer:  Potentially both. 
 

66. The cover page of the RFP requests one original and 6 copies of the submission, however 
Attachment 02 page 2 requests one original and one copy of the documents in Envelope 1, one 
original and one copy of the documents in Envelope 2, and one original and 4 copies of the 
technical proposal. Could you please clarify the number of copies of the response that should be 
submitted? 
 
Answer:  See answer to Question #2. 
 

67. From Section VII, 24 in the RFP, will the Airports Authority cap the indemnification at the amount 
paid to the contractor? 
 
Answer:  The terms and conditions of the solicitation are not negotiable in any material way. 
 

68. The scope of work outlines that a selection of employees will be chosen (25 each quarter).  Will 
they be chosen randomly or from specific departments or levels within the organization? 
 
Answer:  Randomly. 
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69. Will you need any multilingual translating of the questions? 

 
Answer: No. 
 

70. What entities are the employees participating coming from? 
 
Answer:  The entire employee population of the Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority. 
 

71. From Statement of Work…Provide executive and management-level reports with analysis and 
recommendations regarding links to corporate measures (pay-for-performance program), consult 
on follow-up activities to leverage strengths and to correct/improve identified weaknesses, and 
benchmark to industry organizations; what do they mean by links to corporate measures?  Are they 
providing us with these links and the pay-for-performance program?  Is it imperative that they see 
industry benchmark data in the analysis?  If yes, what type of benchmark data do they want to see? 
 
Answer:  We will provide corporate measures as they are developed.  It is not imperative that 
benchmarking data be included in analysis.  We want to have benchmarking data available to us.  
 

72. From the Statement of Work:  Specifically we will be partnering with a contractor to obtain 
measurements of employee engagement and inclusion for 1500 employees. On-going surveys will 
be administered on a quarterly basis (25% of the employee population per quarter) with the results 
rolling up to a corporate measure of engagement and inclusion.  Confirm that they are only sending 
the employee engagement survey quarterly.  Or are they sending one annual survey to all 
employees followed by quarterly surveys to 25% of employees? 
 
Answer: Survey will be sent to quarterly to 25% of the population.  
 

73. From the Statement of Work:  Provide validated instruments for measures of employee engagement 
and inclusion. The response format should be flexible to accommodate a blend of web based and 
paper surveys as needed for some segments of the population. The survey will be administered 
randomly to employees on a quarterly basis (25% of the workforce each quarter). Distribution and 
collection of paper survey to be administered by the contractor. What percentage of the surveys 
each quarter will be paper based?  Will they need us to manage the printing and mailing of the 
paper surveys to each office location?  If yes, how many locations will they need the surveys sent 
to?  Will they need us to manage the data entry of the completed paper surveys? 
 
Answer:  See #28.  Vendor is responsible for all aspects, of implementing a paper survey to at least 
two locations, Reagan National and Dulles Airports. 
 

74. Will the survey be administered in other languages besides English?  If yes, what other languages?  
Will they need us to supply the translations? 
 
Answer: No 
 

75. What is their timeline for the initiative?  Can you expand on their evaluation process? Example: 
meet with a team, narrow down submissions, demo, submit selected vendor to management, 
procurement/purchasing etc?  We need to understand how much of a priority this is to them. 
 
Answer:  We want to launch a survey by the end of the 1Q 2014.   
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76. Who is involved in the evaluation?  Just HR?  Other departments?  Management?  Who is the DM? 
 
Answer:  A number of departments will be represented on the evaluation team.  The composition of 
the evaluation team is not disclosed. 
 

77. When do you plan to launch the first survey?  We know in Q1, but is there a deadline? 
 
Answer:  No deadline but would like to launch by end of 1Q 2014. 
 

78. How many employees do they expect to need paper-based surveys rather than online? 
 
Answer:  See Question #28. 
 

79. Will MWAA provide proctoring spaces for us to administer the paper surveys? 
 
Answer:  If that becomes part of the final work plan space will be provided.  It is anticipated that 
employees will be able to respond to the survey independently and  return it by a particular 
deadline.  
 

80. Is English the only language or are others required? 
 
Answer: English only. 
 

81. The requirement for quarterly surveys of 25% of the employee base per quarter – is the expectation 
that data will be collected throughout the quarter (with data collection closing precisely at the end 
of each quarter), or do you want to collect data during a defined time window within the quarter?  
This actually impacts some of our reporting and admin costs, so this is a key question to be 
answered. 
 
Answer:  We will establish a defined data collection period each quarter. 
 


